Working paper Series 2012

No.12-127

When Passion Dries Out, Reason Takes Control:

A Temporal Study of Rebels' Motivation in Fighting Civil Wars

Thomas Tranekaer

Published: April 2012

Development Studies Institute

London School of Economics and Political Science

Houghton Street

London

WC2A 2AE UK

Tel: +44 (020) 7955 7425/6252

Fax: +44 (020) 7955-6844

Email: d.daley@lse.ac.uk

ISSN 1470-2320

Web site: www.lse.ac.uk/depts/ID

Abstract

The literature on civil wars tends to understand people's decision to join a rebellion as the product of a *static* source of motivation – often greed or grievance. Most studies thereby assume that the reason behind starting a rebellion is the same as the reason behind continuing it. However, since civil wars are normally very dynamic entities, this assumption seems puzzling. The purpose of this study is thus to apply a temporal perspective on the study of rebels' motivation in order to examine how this is affected by the changing surroundings throughout a civil war.

By linking theory on greed and grievance with insights from motivational psychology, this paper argues that rebels are motivated by both reason and passion (the psychological equivalents to greed and grievance), but to different times. More precisely, it is argued that passion triggers civil war, while reason sustains it. A re-examination of two critical cases – the Liberian and Salvadoran civil wars – supports this argument. The findings contribute to the theorization of the field and provide one of few frameworks able to encompass both the outbreak and the continuation of civil war.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	
2. A Theory of Rebels' Motivation	6
2.1 Greed and grievance – competing theories of rebels' motivation	6
2.2 Reason and passion – a theory of motivational psychology	8
2.3 Reason and passion in rebels' motivation – the introduction of a temporal dimension	9
2.3.1 The outbreak of civil war: Passion as the trigger	10
2.3.2 The continuation of civil war: Reason as the sustainer	11
3. Case Study Methodology	13
3.1 Case selection	13
3.2 Conceptualization and operationalization	14
4. Empirical Evidence: Two Critical Cases	15
4.1 Liberia 1989-1996: A classic case for the greed thesis	15
4.1.1 The outbreak: Indiscriminate violence and the emergence of grievances	15
4.1.2: The continuation: "The income trap"	16
4.2 El Salvador 1980-1992: A classic case for the grievance thesis	17
4.2.1 The outbreak: Peasants into rebels – reaching the breaking point	18
4.2.2 The continuation: Economic equivalents as rational incentives	19
5. Discussion of Evidence and Findings (1000)	21
6. Concluding Remarks (1000)	23
Bibliography	25

1. Introduction

Since the end of the Second World War, intrastate wars – or civil wars – have been the dominant form of violence. 20 percent of all nations have experienced at least ten years of civil war during the last 50 years, and in the world's poorest region, Sub-Saharan Africa, almost a third of the countries entered the 90s with active civil wars (Blattman & Miguel, 2010: 4). These wars bring massive destruction to their countries, societies and citizens, and the social, psychological and economical costs last for many years (Collier et al., 2003: 15ff). Civil wars thus greatly affect the economy and thereby the livelihood of people, by destroying three of the most influential inputs to production (Chambers & Conway, 1992): human capital (see, UNCHR, 2007: 7, 23); physical infrastructure (e.g., Collier et al., 2003: 15); and social and political institutions. This has led one of the most influential scholars in the civil war literature, Paul Collier, to call civil wars "development in reverse" (ibid.: ix) and caused other scholars to argue that civil wars are one of the explanations of the income gap between rich and poor countries (Blattman & Miguel, 2010: 4). Citizens suffer tremendously from a civil war – people die and the economy dies with them – which makes one wonder: What makes people want to fight these wars?

In 1998 Collier and Hoeffler published what turned out to be the first article of several, arguing that rebels are motivated by economic opportunities when fighting civil wars. An explanation for the occurrence of civil wars which counterargued the narrative especially dominant within the Western media: that rebels are motivated by "raw *ethnic or religious hatred*" (Collier, 2000: 95). The debate between these two perspectives has been named the debate between greed and grievance. Through the last decade a large number of studies have been conducted, improving our understanding of the motivation of rebels to fight civil wars and the incentive structures surrounding them. Most of these studies have applied a static perspective to rebels' motivation, leaving potential changes in rebel motivation throughout a conflict unresearched. This is exactly the focus of this paper which attempts to answer the following research question: *How does rebels*' *motivation change throughout a civil war*.

Previous studies often distinguish between the onset and the continuation of a war without presenting either a sufficient theoretical explanation or empirical evidence. Among those is Stewart, who argues that economic opportunities might play a greater role later in the conflict (2000: 29), and Collier who argues that ethnic or religious cleavages could be used for mobilization purposes after the conflict has been started (2000: 95). Even though these studies soften their conclusions by opening up for other possible factors, they tend to stick to one explanation, thereby understanding rebels' actions as motivated by one static source. Based on previous literature, one would therefore not expect any change to happen in the motivation of rebels throughout a civil war. People are either rational or emotional, and either way they are that continuously.

This paper presents an alternative argument that moderates this understanding of one constant source of motivation. By introducing recent developments in the field of motivational psychology (e.g., Bracha & Brown, 2007; Kaufman, 1999) into the literature on greed and grievance, this paper will argue that the source of rebels' motivation can change fundamentally throughout a conflict. More precisely, it will be argued that (a) it is fruitful to broaden the concepts of greed and grievance to equal the psychological concepts of reason and passion. Based on this, it is argued that (b) people act in both passion (for instance due to grievances) and reason (for instance due to greed) depending on the environment facing them, and (c) since rebels are faced with very different situations in the onset of a conflict, where the mortality risk is extremely high, compared to in the midst of conflict, (d) it will take different motivational sources to make rebels choose to start a conflict and to continue it – namely, passion as the trigger and reason as the main sustainer. When asking if rebels are motivated by greed or grievance, one should therefore answer: Everything has its time.

This temporal approach has previously only been applied in few studies on civil wars. Regan & Norton argue that "grievance leads to collective behavior, but defection is always a problem, so rebel leaders resort to selective benefits that tap into self-interested behavior" (2005: 319), and Murshed & Tadjoeddin argue that "grievances ... might be better at explaining why conflicts begin, but not necessarily why they persist" (2007: 1). However, both these studies leave a lot of questions unanswered. The contribution of this study is twofold. First, it develops a theoretical framework able to explain both civil war onset and continuation, thereby avoiding the theoretical shortcuts that Murshed & Tadjoeddin (2007) and especially Regan & Norton's (2005) more inductive study, have to make. This is exactly what Blattman & Miguel call for in their review article on civil war, when emphasizing the need for consistent theoretical explanations (2010: 7). Second, the argument developed in this paper is tested against two in-depth reviews of critical case material. The empirical support for this theoretical framework is thereby a lot stronger than the single-case study methodology applied in several other studies. Even though this paper should mainly be seen as a modest effort to develop a theoretical framework able to explain rebels' motivation in a temporal perspective, the empirical part thus helps validating its potential findings.

The paper will be structured in six parts. Following this introduction, the theoretical framework will be developed by drawing on existing civil war literature and insights from motivational psychology. Hereafter, the strengths and weaknesses of the case study approach taken in this paper are discussed, and a case selection based on a most different systems design is presented. The fourth part of this paper reexamines two cases – Liberia and El Salvador – and assesses the explanatory power of the paper's argument. A critical discussion of the findings will be carried out in the fifth part, before a conclusion will sum up and point towards some policy implications.

2. A Theory of Rebels' Motivation

The literature on civil wars is extensive and has expanded dramatically the last half of a century. Studies have been conducted trying to explain the consequences of civil wars, its causes and even how to succeed strategically (for an overview, see Goodwin et al., 2001; Blattman & Miguel, 2010). The literature on consequences has shown how civil wars affect future investments and physical assets (e.g., Rodrik, 1999; see however, Cerra & Saxena, 2008); health and human capital (Bundervoet et al., 2009; Shemyakina, 2006); politicial and social institutions (e.g., Sambanis, 2007; Bellows & Miguel, 2006); and several other indicators. The overall conclusion has been clear: "Civil wars wreak mass destruct-tion of infrastructure and livelihoods as well as lives" (Keen, 2010: 12).

This conclusion has throughout the last couple of decades fuelled the research on the causes of civil wars. Several approaches have been taken, among which the most dominant have been one of motivation (see however the feasibility perspective, Collier et al., 2006; and the international relations perspective, Vinci, 2006). Thus, studies have been collected on the motivation of different players, including the government and military (e.g., Theidon, 2009; Sanín, 2008), the rebel leaders (e.g., Sanín, 2003), and most importantly the ordinary rebels.

Why ordinary rebels *choose* to fight is the cornerstone in the understanding of civil wars. A rebellion needs the local people – the workers, the peasants and the craftsmen – to leave their peaceful lives and fight a war. Without ordinary people fighting, there is no civil war. A lot of studies have been carried out suggesting different sources of motivation behind rebels' decision to fight. Thus, ethnic and religious hatred (Lindberg, 2008); ideology (Faust, 1990); social networks (Theidon, 2009); fear (Vinci, 2006); economic prosperity (Le Billon, 2001); and power (Vinci, 2006) have all been found to affect rebels motivation for joining a civil war. That rebels' motivation is varied is underlined by Theidon, who finds that the rebels and paramilitary in Colombia were motivated by a lot of different sources counting fear and survival, the prospect of marriage and salaries (2009: 17).

2.1 Greed and grievance - competing perspectives on rebels' motivation

Several studies, such as those mentioned above, have shown how rebels are motivated by a range of factors. However, many of these have to some extent been either ignored or modified to fit into the dominating debate on rebels' motivation: Whether rebels are driven by "greed and loot-seeking [or by] grievance and justice-seeking" (Ballentine & Sherman, 2003: 4).

The greed thesis was developed based on econometric analysis showing that "the risk of civil wars has been systematically related to a few economic conditions" (Collier, 2006: 1), mainly the availability of lootable resources and low education among young men (Collier, 2000: 93-95; see also,

Ross, 2006). As Murshed & Tadjoeddin describe it, "greed is about opportunities faced by the rebel group" (2009: 89). A rebel is said to be driven by greed, when he or she is motivated by economic opportunities, such as looting and military salaries. As Keen writes, this suggests that "war may dovetail into crime and we [therefore] need to rethink the relationship between the two" (Keen, 2000: 283). Collier's approach thus fostered an understanding of rebels as mainly just criminals, which have led Duffield (2001) among others (e.g., Bøås & Dunn, 2007) to criticize this approach for unfairly delegitimizing all rebellions.

If we term a rebel's "rational responses" as an act of greed (Bøås & Dunn, 2007: 4), Duffield's critique seems relevant. For many ordinary rebels choosing the life as a rebel is not a choice of luxury but of bare necessities. This point together with the variety of studies showing different rational sources of motivation lead this paper to argue that a broader understanding of rebels' rational decision making might be more appropriate. The rational choice perspective – cf. Hirshleifer's (1995) game theoretical model – that has fostered the greed thesis will thus be improved by including other factors that has been shown to count in rational persons' tradeoffs. Instead of a "greed" thesis, a *reason thesis* will therefore be developed, defined as the decision making process made by the rational man "Homo Economicus" (Archer, 2000: 36; Simon, 1993: 392).

A rebel motivated by reason will be driven by several factors to optimize his livelihoods. One of these is indeed economic incentives, as they are normally described by Collier and collaborators. In his study of the Russian civil war, Figes (1996) for instance shows that the number of desertions is ten times higher in summer, where peasants have crops as an income source, than in winter, where they have no economic alternative. That is, in the summer the opportunity costs of fighting is simply too high.

"Political power is an important instrument of economic power, setting the rules and determining allocation of employment, [and] of government economic and social investments" (Stewart, 2000: 10). This point suggests that the pursuit of political power and leadership should be thought into the rational calculus, since political and economic power can often be seen as somewhat equivalent. As Vinci shows in his study of the Lord's Resistance Army in Uganda, "the notion of power includes, among other factors, economic wealth" (ibid.: 32). Furthermore, he argues that also survival is an important source of motivation for rebels when choosing whether to fight or not: The goal is "to survive first and foremost and obtain benefits secondarily" (ibid.: 33). This suggests the inclusion of the mortality risk in the rational calculus. Whether the survival prospects are best as a rebel or as a civilian is thus an important factor in a reason-based decision making.

Opposite to greed stands grievance, and opposite to reason stands passion. The literature supporting grievances as the main motivation behind rebels' decision to fight argues that civil wars can be explained by "ethnic hatred" (Pugh et al., 2004: 1) or other cleavages between different groups of people with different identities (Lindberg, 2008; Trejo, 2009). Initially this approach assumed that these grievances were based deep in the human psychology (for an overview see, Goodwin et al, 2001: 1-24). However, recent studies supporting the grievance thesis, explain grievances as a product of one's surroundings, such as the political and economical relationship between different groups often referred to as horizontal inequalities (Stewart, 2003; Østby, 2006).

When a rebel is motivated by grievances, he or she is driven by a feeling of injustice and a desire to punish the persons responsible for this. This source of motivation is not rational but emotional. It is an act of passion. However, passion includes more than just grievances (even though this by far is the biggest source). One could for instance imagine rebels being motivated by an ideology and thus a positive passionate pull. Suicide bombers stand as an extreme example of the irrationality of a passionate act that can be based on grievances as well as ideology. To include this ideological source of motivation, this paper will broaden the grievance thesis to be a *thesis on passion*.

As mentioned above the evidence on rebels' motivation is mixed. Rational sources of motivation have been found to drive rebels across both cultural, geographical and other background variables (see, Berdal & Malone, 2000; Nafziger et al., 2000). This has also been shown to be the case for passion-based motivation (see, Ballentine & Sherman, 2003; Goodwin et al., 2001). The question therefore still remains: Are ordinary rebels motivated by reason or passion when fighting civil wars?

2.2 Reason and passion – a theory of motivational psychology

Reason- and passion-based studies are fundamentally different in their understanding of human – and thereby rebel – motivation and behavior¹. As Goodwin et al. describe it, it is a difference between understanding rebels as "computers mechanically processing" tradeoffs or as "primitive group minds" (2001: 1-2). The two approaches thus assume that rebels are motivated purely by either reason or passion and as a consequence of this explain civil war as the presence of either atypical rational incentives or atypical grievances (Collier & Hoeffler, 2004: 564).

Many years of research in motivational psychology suggest differently. In his study of emotional arousal, Kaufman (1999) shows that people can be motivated by both reason and passion depending on the situation facing them. People normally try to apply a rational calculus to their decisions, but do often become affected by passions – like sympathy or antipathy – which makes them act somewhat irrational. Depending on the type and strength of this passionate arousal, people can end up acting exactly opposite what they would have chosen else wise as a rational actor (ibid.: 136). This interaction between reason and passion has been shown to apply to a broad range of people, including both men and women, young and old people and different nationalities (see, Goodwin et al.,

¹ For a critical discussion of the distinction between reason and passion, see Goodwin et al. (2001).

2001: 9) as well as it has been proven to be the case across different decision situations, including voting behavior (Glenn, 2004), consumer choice (Shiv & Fedorikhin, 1999); and of course private decisions such as who to marry and which job to take (Goodwin et al., 2001: 10-16). It is *human* psychology. People try to be rational but emotional influence limits one's cognitive skills and can lead to irrational actions (Kaufman, 1999: 137).

In 1922 Weber published one of the first studies exploring these emotional influences, when he showed how nervousness as well as anxiety led to somewhat irrational decisions (Weber, 1922). Several studies have elaborated on this and found that strong emotions, such as anger and disappointment, can lead to passionate acts completely offsetting any sense of reason. Recent game-theoretical experiments have thus shown how a feeling of unfair treatment can trigger passionate and irrational decisions. Koenings and Tranell (2007) for instance carry out an experiment based on the ultimatum game, showing that if people feel exposed to unfair treatment, they are ready to *punish* the guilty person even though this action puts costs upon themselves (ibid.: 951). Similar results have been found by studies using other game theoretical models, such as the prisoners' dilemma (e.g., Nikiforakis & Normann, 2008). A feeling of injustice can thus lead a person to act against his own rational interests, driven by passion.

Kemper (1978) describes such passionate emotions as "short-term", suggesting that the point of departure for a human decision making is always an attempt of rationality. Other scholars, however presents the possibility that passions can be long-term as well as short-term. Thus, Jasper (1998) presents a distinction between emotions such as shock and anger, which he describes as shorter term, and emotions such as loyalty and moral outrage, which he describes as longer term. The latter group of feelings can hypothetically drive a person – or a rebel – to act in passion for a longer period of time.

In sum, human decision making is in general driven by reason, but emotional arousal can lead to irrational acts of passion to varying degree and for varying periods of time. Whether reason or passion is the source of motivation is a product of the surrounding conditions. These insights from motivational psychology have – to the knowledge of the author – been absent in the literature until now.

2.3 Reason and passion in rebels' motivation - the introduction of a temporal dimension

A civil war is a very dynamic entity. A rebel is exposed to changing power relations, loss of family members and assets, identity crises, huge possible benefits, and depressing costs. Thus, emotional affections and rational incentives "appears and disappears in response to what is happening in one's surroundings" throughout most civil wars (Goodwin et al., 2001: 4). As it was described above, the source of human motivation is a product of surrounding conditions and since these are very variable, a more dynamic view on rebels' motivation will be appropriate. This paper therefore introduces a

temporal dimension distinguishing between the situation facing rebels before the outbreak of a civil war and under the course of one.

2.3.1 The outbreak of civil war: Passion as the trigger

As Collier pointed out, every beginning of a civil war is characterized by a "collective action problem": a group of people have a shared interest in starting a rebellion to bring about justice, but no one has the incentive to fight for this shared interest (2000: 98). The individual is faced with an incentive to free-ride and let other bear the risk of fighting, which leads to collective inactivity. This insight made Collier argue that grievances would not be able to explain the outbreak of a civil war (ibid.: 99). The only possible explanation why civil wars broke out despite the collective action problem was the presence of individual economic in-process benefits (ibid.).

That reason should be the driving force behind the outbreak of civil wars, as it is argued by Collier and collaborators, seems unrealistic for two major reasons. First, the mortality risk in the beginning of a conflict is severe. "Every rebellion has to start small before it can become large" (ibid.), and in the period where the rebellion is still small the mortality risk facing its participants will be extensive due to the little number of people sharing the costs and the unequal power balance between the rebellion and the governments' forces (ibid.; Lindberg, 2008: 14). As Mason describes it, young rebellions are often "crushed with great brutality" by the military (1999: 181). A benefit outweighing a potential cost of this size would have to be enormous. Even taken into consideration the fact that rebels often initially have little to lose, it is still hard to imagine that people would be willing to risk their own and their families lives for a lottery ticket unless the jackpot is unrealistically high.

This point is furthermore underlined by a second outbreak characteristic: time inconsistency. Several studies have emphasized the fact that most economic benefits do not arrive until late in the rebellion (Lindberg, 2008: 15; Collier, 2000: 99). This means that even if the private benefits facing the individual can outweigh the costs associated with high mortality risk, the rebel still faces a situation where he or she carries the costs now and have to wait for a possible benefit until later. Not only are poor people in the economics literature often associated with high discount rates, meaning that they value an immediate cost or benefit much higher than a future one (Grimble et al., 2002: 23), the future benefits do also have to be shared among a much larger group of people, including people who did not share the same initial risk.

For rebels to start a rebellion they therefore need to be motivated by things other than reason. This brings passion into the discussion. As mentioned above people driven by passion do not think in rational calculuses and can therefore overcome the disincentive to fight. A feeling of injustice, disappointment and unfair treatment can thus cause these passionate acts to happen and thereby be the trigger of a civil war. This explains why heavy rainfall and transient poor have been seen to correlate with the outbreak of civil war, while chronic poverty has not (Miguel et al., 2004; Goodhand, 2003). People's decision to start a civil war is a response to the disappointment and perceived injustice of declining welfare; a response of frustration and anger towards the people they find responsible (Nafziger & Auvinen, 2000: 96).

In sum, the outbreak of a civil war would be expected to be characterized by rebels motivated by passion, not by reason. The beginning of a conflict is thus triggered by events that will cause ordinary people to get a strong feeling of injustice and bring them to act against what a rational calculus would suggest.

2.3.2 The continuation of civil war: Reason as the sustainer

After a civil war has broken out, what makes it continue? As Lindberg writes, "some conflicts are terminated after only a few days while others last several decades" (2008: 1). Understanding this differrence is a central element in understanding the cause of conflicts. Since the situation facing the rebels in the middle of a war is very different from those facing them before the outbreak, we cannot automatically assume that the source of motivation found in the first instance applies to the second.

At some point after the onset, a civil war will end up in some kind of equilibrium, where the rebellion will be well established and the warfare going on. This changes the incentive structures and emotions affecting the (potential) rebels. First and foremost, the mortality risk can be expected to change dramatically. Several studies have shown that being a civilian in a war zone is extremely dangerous and in some instances even can incentivize people to join one of the fighting sides out of pure survival (Laband, 2007: 2; Kilcullen, 2009: 39). In his analysis of the war in Afghanisation, Kilcullen for instance shows how 90% of Taliban is just ordinary people joining, because "they're afraid that if they reconcile, the crazies will kill them" (ibid.). Secondly, the time difference between paying the costs and receiving the benefits of fighting, which characterized the outbreak, is not present in the midst of the conflict, where the economic inflow from resource rents, systematic looting, diasporas' support etc. allows benefits to be paid immediately. These two changes in the incentives structures facing rebels result in a situation where rebels might choose to fight if the job and income opportunities are better inside the rebellion than outside. The civil war can thereby fulfill the function of providing physical and economical safety, and reason can much likely motivate people to keep fighting (Keen, 2000: 283, 290). A range of quantitative studies support this argument. While Collier et al. (2004) and Humphreys (2005) do not find any correlation between the presence of resources and the duration of conflict, Fearon (2004) and Ross (2006) both find significant effects when only including those resources that are lootable, such as drugs and germs.

The situation might incentivize a rational person to fight, however this does not mean that people actually act based on reason. This is dependent on the level of emotional arousal. Jasper (1998)

suggests that certain emotions can last for long periods, which makes it possible that the same passion that triggered the rebellion can sustain it. However, Kaufmann (1999) argues that this is less likely. He shows that after responding to one's passion by reacting in outrage, this passion slowly stops exerting "motivational pull" (ibid: 140). Passion – for instance based on grievances – will therefore often dry out, and leave reason in charge as the source of motivation. A range of studies on the duration of civil wars support this argument. Balch-Lindsay & Enterline (2000) for instance find that political grievances do not have a significant effect on the duration of conflict. A conclusion supported by a range of other studies (e.g., Gleditsch et al., 2009; see however, Lindberg, 2008).

In sum, a conflict can be sustained both by passion and reason. However, there is a strong tendency – both in game theoretical experiments and econometric analysis – that passion dries out as the war proceeds causing reason to take over as the main source of motivation.

3. Case Study Methodology

To assess the explanatory power of the argument presented above, this paper carries out a qualitative, explanatory two-case study design. The cases presented are selected based on a critical selection method maximizing the variation of case material and thereby the strength of the test. The re-examination will be based on existing secondary literature and the range of sources these draw upon from interviews over documents to biographical accounts (David & Sutton, 2004: 111).

Whether qualitative or quantitative research is best at understanding the causes of civil wars has been much contested in the literature (for an overview see, Fearon & Laitin, 2008). Proponents of the case study method have criticized quantitative research for not being able to state causality and not being careful enough in the use of proxy variables (e.g., Sambanis, 2004: 259; Ballentine & Sherman, 2003: 4), and proponents of econometric analysis have criticized qualitative research for not being able to draw inferences to a broader range of cases and for being too reliant on rebels' own statements (e.g., Collier, 2000: 92).

To answer the question posed in this paper the case study approach is superior. This is due to two main reasons. First, the purpose of this paper is to understand the causal relationship between the source of rebel motivation and the choice to fight in-depth. The high internal validity and focus on causal mechanism characterizing a case study is therefore necessary (Gerring, 2007: 43). Secondly, this paper takes a longitudinal micro-level approach focusing on the changes on individual level. Such quantitative data do simply not exist at the moment.

3.1 Case selection

A crucial part of case study research is the case selection (Eisenhardt, 1995: 71). Most studies on civil wars choose their case(s) after convenience making them more of an example of their theory than an actual test (e.g., Korf, 2005; Vinci, 2006; see, Geddes, 1990). This paper bases the case selection on two criteria: the cases should be least-likely to confirm the theory in this paper – that is, they should be "critical cases" (Ruddin, 2006: 797) – and should apply to a most different systems design (Gerring, 2007: 90).

Since this paper argues that neither greed nor grievance stands alone in the motivation of rebels, choosing one strong case from each of these literatures will present a critical test. Ballentine & Sherman emphasize four cases as "paradigmatic examples of greed-driven rebellion" (2003, 10): Angola, DRC, Sierra Leone and Liberia. Since the former three have been subject to in-depth re-examination (see, Cater, 2003), this paper will concentrate on the dynamics in the first Liberian civil war. In Wood's study on El Salvador she concludes that "emphases on material interests … do not adequately explain political mobilization" (Wood, 2001: 267). The Salvadoran civil war thereby makes a critical case for the argument, that wars are primarily sustained by reason.

By revisiting these two cases, this paper exposes its theoretical framework to a critical test. If these two widely different cases show the same tendency – that passion triggers war and reason sustains it – it is most likely that similar tendencies will be present in other conflicts. This increases the extent to which this paper's findings can be generalized to a broader range of cases (Ruddin, 2006: 797).

3.2 Conceptualization and operationalization

As Ballentine & Sherman emphasize, one of the biggest problems in contemporary research on civil wars is the lack of solid conceptualizations and operationalizations (2003: 7). "Theories seldom specify the empirical predictions that can test between competing accounts" (Blattman & Miguel, 2010: 7), which often leads to different interpretations of the same phenomenon. Both Collier (2000) and Stewart (2000) for instance interpret low levels of education as support for their argument – that is, as a proxy for greed and grievance respectively. This has also been shown to be a problem in case study research (Collier & Hoeffler, 2004: 565; Adcock & Collier, 2001: 529). Before proceeding to the analysis of the cases, an explicit presentation of the observation criteria will thus be appropriate.

The purpose of this study is to identify what motivates rebels to fight (or don't fight) in the beginning and in the middle of a conflict. The focus is on the individual rebel and how his or her perceptions lead to action. Whether the perception objectively can be said to be mistaken is not an issue in this paper (see, Collier & Hoeffler, 2004: 565).

To state passion as the source of motivation two criteria needs to be fulfilled. First of all, one needs to identify a strong group feeling and an antipathy towards outsiders. Second, a feeling of injustice and hatred towards an enemy (or alternatively love and sympathy towards a goal) needs to be made probable. Statements in interviews, objective events (especially ones creating sudden changes in people's life) or horizontal inequalities can all be used to assess whether this is the case or not. If these two criteria are fulfilled, it is most likely that rebels are driven by passion.

Since passion offsets reason – as explained above – first criteria to state reason, is to make it unlikely that passion access sufficient motivational pull. Is this the case, rebels will most likely be acting in reason. To confirm this, one furthermore needs to make sure that the expected behavior based on the incentive structures facing the individual rebel (the mere existence of resources is not sufficient, we need to make sure that these are actually available for the individual rebel) equals the observed behavior. To do this, observations of rebel strategy and behavior (e.g., are they looting or not) is a strong source, however, also interviews can bring insights into this question (e.g., Theidon, 2009). The focus is on the "private calculus of costs and benefits" (Stewart, 2000: 13).

4. Empirical Evidence: Two Critical Cases

In this part, the first Liberian (1989-1996) and the Salvadoran (1980-1992) civil wars will be examined. The focus in these case studies will be to understand the motivation behind rebels' decision to either fight or not in the outbreak and in the midst of a civil war respectively. The purpose of these case studies is not to present a detailed account of the history and course of the two conflicts (for the first Liberian war see, Ellis, 2007; Moran, 2006; Atkinson, n.d.; for the Salvadoran war see, Montgomery, 1995; Wood, 2003), but to build a picture of the incentives and emotions affecting rebels at different times in these conflicts.

4.1 Liberia 1989-1996: A classic case for the greed thesis

The literature on Liberia describes a highly heterogeneous population divided into 16 different ethnic groups dominating different parts of its territory, where the Gio, Mano, Krahn and Mandigo are the most dominant (Hegre et al., 2009: 605). Of natural resources the country produces and exports timber, rubber and diamonds – the latter especially during the civil war (CIA, 2011) – however, without the people benefitting from it due to a neopatrimonial regime. This has been a constant source of instability and violence throughout the history of Liberia (Bøås & Hatløy, 2008: 36).

The first Liberian civil war broke out in 1989 and ended in 1996. It has been portrayed as a war on resources and an example of Kaldor's "new wars" (2007). The study on rebels' motivation has thus been highly guided by the search for economic motives (Reno, 1999; Collier & Hoeffler, 2004; Bøås, 2005; Ellis, 2007). An analysis of the rebels in Charles Taylor's National Patriotic Front of Liberia (NPFL) will try to broaden the perspective.

<u>4.1.1 The outbreak: Indiscriminate violence and the emergence of grievances</u>

In 1980, Samuel Doe, an ethnic Krahn, took power in Liberia through a coup d'etat. He did not only put people from his own ethnic group in most of the leading official positions, but also succeeded in keeping most of the Gios and Manos, which supported Doe's opponent, out of offices (Hegre et al., 2009: 607). In 1985, Taylor made the first attempt to overthrow Doe's government but failed and sought refuge in neighboring Cote d'Ivoire. This made Doe intensify the repression of Gios and Manos through indiscriminate violence targeting this group of people "by reason of their ethnic identity alone" (Ellis, 1995: 166). In 1989, Taylor tried again but this time his small group of rebels counting around a hundred men was joined by tens of thousands of Gios and Manos when entering the border to Liberia (Johnston, 2008: 121). They quickly established some degree of control in the Gio and Mano dominated areas from which most rebels were recruited. The civil war had begun: Doe ordered his ar-

my to attack Gios and Manos, and Taylor unleashed his forces on Krahns and Mandingos, which made up most of Doe's supporters (Bøås, 2005: 80).

The key to understanding the outbreak of the Liberian civil war lies in understanding the motivation behind those tens of thousands ordinary Liberians who left their homes and chose to start a civil war. They were not fighters or extremist; they lived "quite ordinary Liberian lives", 60% went to school and 25% were working (Bøås & Hatløy, 2008: 33, 41). The only thing they had in common, except to a large extent the ethnic background, was "a strong aversion to the incumbent president, Samuel Doe", rooted in the unfair and ethnic-based allocation of resources and political positions (Johnston, 2008: 121; Ellis, 1995: 166). This together with the indiscriminate violence which Doe initiated after the failed coup attempt in 1985 created so strong grievances towards the regime and the Krahns that when the opportunity came to act against Doe they mobilized to fight. Thus, it was a passionate act based on grievances and an urge to end the injustice.

Despite Doe's indiscriminate violence against civilians in Gio and Mano communities, people would not have chosen to fight if they had been motivated by reason. As mentioned above most people lived normal lives with family and occupation making the opportunity costs of fighting very high, especially taken into consideration that the army was very small when it entered Liberia and four years earlier had failed in its mission. Since the establishment of the rebel group was moved outside the country, one could argue that the critical point when a small rebellion turns large was somewhat neutralized due to the decrease in mortality risk due to starting in a safe haven. However, the rebel group did not actually expand before it entered Liberia, suggesting that people were disincentivized by their rational calculus. This disincentive was not overcome before the opportunity to react on the anger and physically punish the responsible arose.

4.1.2: The continuation: "The income trap"

After the outbreak of the war the violence escalated. Doe targeted civilians in the Gio and Mano dominated areas with great brutality in an attempt to pacify potential NPFL recruits. However, this had the opposite effect and led a great number of Gios and Manos to join the rebellion in search for safety (Hegre et al., 2009: 608; see also, Keen, 2000: 290). By April 1990 NPFL dominated 90% of Liberian territory. As the rebellion had grown bigger Taylor had lost control over his forces, which had become more interested in the economic opportunities facing them than military targets. In an attempt to keep their loyalty Taylor introduced operations such as "Operation Pay Yourself, in which he granted subordinates formal permission to engage in the looting and plunder in which many were already engaged" (Johnston, 2008: 122). However, this did nothing but enabled these rather autonomous units to accumulate resources and thereby detach from Taylors's control (ibid.). This made NPFL splinter: "At one stage the countryside was contested by no less than eight armed factions", which

survived "by engaging in battles against each other and accessing valuable natural commodities as well as looting consumer goods" (Hegre et al., 2009: 608). During 1995 foreign involvement increased, including military presence from The Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS). In 1996, six years after the death of Doe, Taylor signed a peace agreement – after refusing to attend any nego-tiations since the outbreak of the war – and in 1997 he was elected as Liberia's president (Bøås, 2005: 83). The bloodshed did slow considerably, but did not end and in 1999 Liberia relapsed into conflict as the second Liberian civil war broke out.

As it is clear from the above, the rebellion quickly came to function as an industry. Thus, Taylor's territory had its own "currency and banking system, telecommunication network, airfields [and] export trade (in diamonds, timber, gold, and farm products) to support arms imports" (Nafziger & Auvinen, 2000: 115). Since the formal Liberian economy experienced a fall on 77% from 1989 to 1992, the economic opportunities within the rebellion came to be very attractive (Stewart, 1993). Rebels had to keep to fighting, since this was the only way to make a living.

The high number of rebel fractions splitting from Taylor – and the fact that they fought each other – highly supports the argument that rebels were no longer motivated by a passion to fight the Krahn regime but rather a desire to keep the civil war alive to benefit from its economy. This is supported in two surveys on ex-combatants (Pugel, 2007: 36; Bøås & Hatley, 2008: 43) and by the fact that plenty of people changed rebel group throughout the conflict depending on who was the dominant in their area (ibid.). The latter is probably the clearest sign for rebels motivated by pragmatism and reason and not ideology and passion.

4.2 El Salvador 1980-1992: A classic case for the grievance thesis

The political economy of El Salvador has for several centuries been characterized by a small elite of landholders and a large group of peasants. The country is not rich on resources, and agriculture – especially coffee-production – has therefore been the main income source for the country (Kincaid, 1987: 469). The wealth created by this agricultural activity has mainly been accumulated by the small group of people owing land resulting in great inequality and a history of conflicts between the rich landowners and the poor peasants (Paige, 1993: 9).

The civil war in El Salvador officially began in 1980, but already at that point intense violence and conflict had characterized the country for several years (Binford, 2004: 106). The conflict ended in 1992 and the peace and reconciliation process became subject to much attention in the literature on peace building (for an early review see, Brockett, 1994; Hume, 2008). When it comes to the causes of the conflict, Wood's research (2001, 2003) has been one of few taking a motivational approach. By emphasizing that the goal of the rebellion was land reforms, i.e. a public good, she concludes that reason-based motivation would not have been able to drive the rebellion (ibid.: 267). As will be argued below, this reasoning is mistaken, and rational incentives did indeed affect the course of the war.

4.2.1 The outbreak: Peasants into rebels - reaching the breaking point

In 1962, the National Reconciliation Party (NRP), dominated by the army and landowners, rigged an election and took power (Dutta, 1982: 7). This was the first of a range of fraud elections throughout the 1960s and 1970s. A small group of left-wing guerillas, the Popular Front of Liberation (FPL), which had fought the government for many years before NRP took power, intensified its operations in this period. The guerilla group grew and in 1974 they succeeded in mobilizing the peasant organizations – especially the Christian Federation of Salvadoran Campesinos (FECCAS) – to participate in a range of large demonstrations against the unfair living costs and standards (Wood, 2003: 91). As a response to these events (and scared by the revolution just started in neighboring Nicaragua), "General Romero, the new dictator [unleashed] organized right-wing terrorism and state repression" (Dutta, 1982: 7). This made the church take action. Through what started as Biblical studies, it mobilized and connected a large part of the peasants in the country and succeeded in unblocking what Wood calls the peasant "fatalism" (2003: 91). Large peasant demonstrations continued: In 1976, as response to a reform which did nothing for the peasants; in 1977, against another fraudulent election; and later same year as a reaction to the murder of priest and religious organizer, Rutilio Grande (ibid.: 484). In 1979, the military, backed by U.S., brought down the NRP government and installed the Revolutionary Government Junta (JRG), which included several representatives from the peasant and church organizations and promised elections and reforms. However, by January 1980 all the left-wing politicians had left the government claiming that it was still under right-wing control and after a strategic meeting including most of the left-wing groups, the rebels stroke with all their strength and officially initiated the civil war (Dutta, 1982: 7-8).

"Campesinos [peasants] provided the foundation of the rural insurgency at great risk to their lives, as well as the lives of family and friends" (Allison, 2004: 145), but what drew them to this action that initiated 12 years of civil war? As is evident from the description above, the Salvadoran civil war was not triggered overnight. Many years of economical and political suppression escalated throughout the 1960s and especially 1970s, where several peasants were expelled from their land due to the introduction of cotton and sugar and the mechanization of agricultural production (Kincaid, 1987: 481). This together with a range of unkept promises of reforms resulted in strong grievances towards the government and the landowners, which was eventually what brought the peasants to face the mortality risk and join the rebellion (Prosterman et al., 1981: 61). It was a passionate act motivated by a desire to act in "moral outrage" against the perpetrators (Wood, 2001: 280; Pastor & Boyce, 2000: 368). The outbreak was a fluid process lasting half of the 1970s, escalating every year and ending in 1980 where the breaking point was reached and the civil war was declared. This argument is supported by the fact that "one of the most reliable predictors of a person's support for the insurgency was whether that individual had a family member or close relative who had been killed by the military" (Allison, 2004: 148).

Reason would not have driven the individual peasant into the rebellion. Living as a civilian was thoroughly consuming (Mason, 1999: 192), but still the difference in mortality risk between the inside and the outside of the rebellion was huge causing a lot of people not to join, since "they were still terrified" (Wood, 2001: 273). Some scholars argue that the church acted as the same safe haven in the crucial period of expansion as was argued Cote d'Ivoire to some extent did in the Liberian case (Vilas, 1995: 33). However, also church people were attacked and killed, suggesting that the role of the church was more emotional, especially through strengthening the collective identity and solidarity among the poor (Peterson, 1997: 72; Wood, 2001: 278). Besides, the peasants rebelled knowing that the chances of winning – and thereby receiving any kind of future benefit – were very slim, which furthermore underlines the economic irrationality behind the choice to fight (Allison, 2004: 148).

4.2.2 The continuation: Economic equivalents as rational incentives

The guerilla forces – united under the name Farabundo Marti National Liberation Front (FMLN) – were already a few months into the civil war in control of large parts of the rural areas especially in the north-east of El Salvador (Wood, 2003: 96; Wood, 2001: 272). The government – economically and strategically influenced by the U.S. (Kincaid, 1987: 490) – responded with brutal repression especially of "potential rebels", i.e. civilians (Vilas, 1995: 34). Thus, more than twelve thousands "extralegal killings of civilians not engaged in combat" were carried out in 1981 alone (Mason, 1999: 191), which "stimulated rather than deterred popular support for the FMLN" (ibid.: 194; see also, Kraft, 2006: 153). The war between the guerilla and the government's forces continued throughout 1980s bringing with it a complete destruction of the Salvadoran civil economy (Nichols, 1996: 201). In 1989, the FMLN captured parts of San Salvador, however, without being able to keep control. The war had reached a deadlock and in 1992 a peace agreement were signed including an amnesty law and the transition of FMLN into a political party (ibid.: 203).

As mentioned earlier, a lot of peasants driven by reason chose not to join the initial rebellion due to fear of the government's forces. This disincentive was quickly neutralized (Vilas, 1995: 34) or even reversed (Mason, 1999: 194) due to the extensive indiscriminate violence. As Mason coins it: "noninvolvement was not a choice" (ibid.: 190). As the civil war progressed, Stanley (1996: 35, 118) argues, economic incentives arose. Not only for the military, which benefited economically from U.S. aid and from support from the landowners (Mason, 1999: 180), but also for parts of the rebel movement who were found to have "a vested interest in maintaining and manipulating external threats" to sustain the war (Johnson, 1997: 786). Stanley does stand somewhat alone with these findings and a broader view of the literature on the Salvadoran war does not give much credit to economic incentives, suggesting that these do not explain the entire twelve years of continuous warfare. However, this does not mean that rebels cannot have been motivated by reason. The application of a broader concept of reason instead of a narrow one of greed does in this situation do justice to itself. The literature emphasizes how participants in the rebellion "developed skills that enabled them to assume leadership positions in a variety of secular organizations, including peasant associations, labor unions, and neighborhood associations" (Mason, 1999: 185; see also, Peterson, 1997: 92ff). This is what Wood refers to as the "pleasure of agency" (2001: 272). She interprets it as an emotional benefit, however, the character of this individual benefit was concrete political power and thereby an equivalent to economic prosperity. This suggests that the opportunity for political positions was a driving force behind the continuation of the rebellion. As Wood writes herself: "moral outrage provided initial motivation early in the war for those who participated then, [while] pleasure of agency later supplemented or replaced outrage" as the source of motivation (ibid.: 273).

Wood's argument – that rebels can only have been motivated by passion, since the purpose of the war was to achieve a public good, namely land reforms – suggests that rebels were continuously motivated by passion throughout the entire war. While it seems likely that passion still made some motivational pull during the war – at least sporadically caused by the killings of civilians – the argument is mistaken because the first does not follow the latter in logic. The official goal in most civil wars is "public goods", such as "justice, revenge, and relief from grievances" (Collier, 2000: 98), and the focus on potential in-process benefits should therefore be kept completely independent from the official goal of the conflict.

Even though the peace process and dynamics characterizing the termination of civil war are beyond the scope of this paper, the transition from war to peace in El Salvador deserves some attention. As it was described above the warring parties had reached a deadlock in the years up till 1992, suggesting that the goal was to win and when that was impossible both parties had interest in ending it. This produces a counterargument to reason as the sustainer. However, several other factors contributed to the decision of signing a peace agreement, including the withdrawal of American support to the military (Ballentine & Sherman, 2003: 1) and internal difficulties in FMLN (Mason, 1999: 192). These changes in the circumstances made the rebels give up their plans on revolution for the ability to access their land and increase its value through the rebuilding of infrastructure (see, Montgomery, 1995). The decision to stop fighting thereby correlates with the rational incentives provided by the situation, which suggests that the theoretical framework presented in this paper might be able to encompass the termination of conflict as well as the outbreak and continuation.

5. Discussion of Evidence and Findings

The conclusions arriving from the Liberian and Salvadoran cases tend to support the main argument of this paper: that passion triggers civil war, while reason sustains it. Thus, ordinary people became rebels in Liberia mainly motivated by grievances towards the regime that had carried out indiscriminate violence among certain ethnic groups; and they continued to fight to sustain a civil war that had turned into an industry actually improving the life of the people inside the rebellion. The same tendencies were present in the otherwise very different case of El Salvador. The outbreak was caused by ordinary peasants' grievances towards a regime that for several years had worsened their lives through unfair policies and later indiscriminate violence. They kept fighting partly due to continued dissatisfaction with the system – passion-based motivation – but mostly due to the opportunity to achieve political powerful positions in organizations outside the rebellion. The purpose of this chapter is to zoom out and valuate the strengths and weaknesses of this evidence and the conclusions derived from it in the light of other case material and alternative explanations.

The tendencies in the Liberian and Salvadoran civil wars are not unique. Cater (2003) for instance did a "rethinking" of three cases normally associated with greed – Angola, Sierra Leone and DRC – and found that economic benefits did not arrive until late in the conflict. Another Latin American case, Columbia, might stand as one of the most paradigmatic cases for this paper's argument. It started as a fight on ideology between the government and the left-wing rebels, but has turned into a war mainly stimulated by resources (Guáqueta, 2003). Even in countries without resources, it has been documented how ordinary looting still has been a driving force for rebels to fight. Bray et al. for instance show how the civil war in Nepal was triggered by ethnic- and caste-based grievances, and how plunder and extortion took over the agenda (2003: 111ff). Finally, Ballentine & Sherman supports the argument in their conclusions based on the reexamination of six widely different case studies (2003: 278). This evidence increases indeed the external validity and strengthens the explanatory power of the argument presented.

The case material has been shown mainly to confirm the theoretical expectations. However, also a few deviations were observed. First, the main temporal distinction drawn in this paper has been the one between the outbreak and the continuation of conflict. This distinction was partly based on a difference in mortality risk. The two case studies challenged this distinction and showed how the mortality risk can actually be offset already before the civil war is started. In both cases the government initiated brutal indiscriminate violence before the war was broken out, and even though this mostly appeared to be a source of grievances and a trigger of passion, it is most likely that it to some extent can have offset the mortality disincentive to join a young rebellion. At a minimum it calls attention to

the fact that the distinction between pre-war, outbreak and continuation should be thought fluidly. Second, loyalty within certain groups of people, including those in a rebellion, also turned out to be a factor that could motivate people. This feeling of community could both be a source of a passionate act, as it is the case when you feel deeply attached to a group (e.g., Wood, 2001: 271), but could also be a factor carrying value in a rational calculus in the form of the inherent value of one's social connections (e.g., Theidon, 2009: 17).

By presenting a theoretical framework encompassing both the outbreak and continuation of civil war, this paper succeeds in distinguishing its argument from previous ones. As it has already been pointed out, neither the greed nor the grievance theses are appropriate when it comes to explaining changes in rebels' motivation. The clear tendencies towards a change from passion-based to reasonbased motivation will be hard to explain by these theories. Other theoretical frameworks simply avoid theorizing on parts of the causation. Among those frameworks is Collier and collaborators' feasibility theory, which moves beyond the motivational approach in explaining civil wars, and simply states that "where civil war is feasible it will occur" (2006: 2). They argue, that lootable resources might not play a role as motivation for rebels, but simply enable them to fight. However, as it has been shown in this paper, rebels do take the opportunities they are facing into serious consideration when choosing their level of obedience to their leaders and their level of activity in the rebellion at all. The feasibility theory thereby seems weak theoretically as well as empirically based on this paper's insights. Besides Collier's argument, Vinci's survival argument (2006); Murshed & Tadjoeddin's social contract argument (2009); and a range of other arguments (e.g., Korf, 2005) provide explanations about rebels' motivation. These theoretical accounts are not falsified by the evidence presented in this paper, but are neither able to explain it. These accounts either focuses on explaining the outbreak or the duration, and they often explicitly admit not being able to explain the other side of the coin. This is exemplified by Korf: "Once a civil war is onset (for whatever reason), the political economy of war produces a selfsustaining logic [emphasize added]" (2005: 201).

In sum, this paper's findings seem applicable to a broader set of cases, which strengthens the external validity of the argument. The universal character of its findings derives from the very core of this paper's argument: human psychology. The psychology behind the decisions made by Gios and Manos in Liberia is thus not any different from the one directing peasants in El Salvador. None of the alternative explanations succeeded in encompassing both the outbreak and the continuation and this paper thereby distinguishes itself from previous studies and increases our knowledge on rebels' motivation in fighting civil wars.

6. Concluding Remarks

The purpose of this paper was to expand our knowledge on rebels' motivation. More precisely, how the motivation behind starting a war might be different from the motivation behind sustaining it.

By introducing recent insights from motivational psychology, this paper developed a theoretical framework distinguishing between two sources of motivation: reason and passion, as equivalents to greed and grievance. Based on this framework, it was argued that rebels are motivated by passion – such as grievances and a desire to punish the opponent due to a feeling of moral outrage – in the beginning of a conflict, whereas reason – understood as the outcome of a rational calculus' trying to optimize welfare through for instance economic opportunities and survival prospects – takes over later on. Thus, passion offsets reason, which takes back control when the source of passion dries out.

This temporal argument was tested against two critical cases, Liberia and El Salvador, which have earlier been presented as cases based on pure greed and grievance respectively. These cases did both – with a few deviations – show the expected tendencies of passion triggering and reason sustaining the wars and thereby supported the argument of this paper. Based on a discussion of the strength of the findings, it was concluded that a broader range of cases revealed similar tendencies and that these tendencies were hard to explain by alternative approaches.

Thus, the argument of this paper both seems valid and as a fruitful contribution to the literature on rebels' motivation. Especially, two theoretical contributions should be emphasized. First, this paper writes itself directly into the middle of the debate between greed and grievance. Rebels' motivation does change during a conflict, and the debate between whether rebels are motivated by greed or grievance is thus nothing but a debate between "when" the eyes look. Second, by arguing that greed and grievance – or reason and passion – both affect the course of conflict but in different roles and to different times, this paper stands against a range of scholars arguing that the analytical distinction between greed and grievance is useless and "unhelpful" (Berdal, 2005: 693; Ballentine & Sherman, 2003). However, by broadening the greed and grievance concepts to equal the psychological concepts of reason and passion, the distinction has indeed proved helpful. Thus, even though this paper does not claim to be able to explain every dimension of every conflict nor to predict when a civil war will happen, it does claim that by relying on human psychology it contributes to our understanding of rebels' decision to fight or not.

How are these insights relevant for policy makers? The military historian Liddell Hart once wrote "if you want peace, understand war". That ordinary people are motivated by different things before the outbreak of a civil war and in the middle of one, suggests that no solution is applicable to all times. Every conflict is unique when it comes to political, economic and cultural structures, however, some general insights can be made about how to intervene in a (pre)conflict situation. When the rebellion is driven by passion, political solutions are called for to try to manage the discourses and the injustice. However, when the rebellion is driven by reason, "a political solution may not end the violence" (Stewart, 2000: 23). Policy makers should then think in manipulating and changing the rational tradeoffs facing rebels, both by changing the economic incentives and the mortality risks. Thus, one needs first to remove the incentives for people to fight and then afterwards address the background for the passions that triggered the war in the first place (Keen, 2010: 25; McCoy, 2008: 105). Liberia's relapse into war in 1999 might be this case in point (see, Call, 2010). There is no doubt that a holistic approach is necessary for all intervention, however, the focus should be much different whether the purpose is to avoid a civil war or to end one. The conclusion of this paper – that passion triggers and reason sustains civil wars – might therefore help making more appropriate interventions and decrease the number of civil wars in the future.

The theoretical framework presented in this paper is still in its infancy, and our understanding of the changing character of rebels' motivation is thus still characterized by a range of unanswered questions. First, one of the weaknesses in this paper's empirical part is the inaccuracy in the interprettation of rebels' motivation. Because of this lack of accuracy, the dynamics characterizing the termination of a conflict have not been the focus of this paper. Some initial thoughts have been made, but to understand it thoroughly, better and temporal micro-level data are called for (cf., Blattman & Miguel, 2010: 8-9). Second, this paper has focused on ordinary rebels arguing that they are what constitute the rebellion. However, a temporal understanding of the motivation for other actors of a civil war – such as the rebel elite and the internal dynamics between different parties within the rebel organization – should be an issue concerning future research. Finally, the literature of rebels motivations have largely been driven by case studies and econometric analysis. More focus on comparative studies (e.g., Vilas, 1995), including non-cases, where civil wars did not happen (e.g., Lund, 2005), might create a better understanding of critical variables and increase our knowledge of the motivation of rebels to fight civil wars.

Bibliography

- Adcock, Robert & David Collier (2001). "Measurement Validity: A Shared Standard for Qualitative and Quantitative Research", *American Political Science Review*, 95(3): 529-546.
- Allison, Michael E. (2004). "Review", Latin American Politics and Society, 46(3): 144-149.
- Archer, Margaret (2000). "Homo economicus, Homo sociologicus and Homo sentiens", pp. 36-56 in Margaret Archer & Jonathan Q. Tritter (eds.), *Rational Choice Theory: Resisting Colonization*, London: Routledge.
- Atkinson, Philippa (n.d.). *Stationary and Roving Banditry: An alternative historical perspective on the Liberian conflict*. Unpublished.
- Balch-Lindsay, Dylan & Andrew J. Enterline (2000). "Killing Time: The World Politics of Civil War Duration, 1820-1992", International Studies Quarterly, 44(4): 615-642.
- Ballentine, Karen & Jake Sherman (2003). *The Political Economy of Armed Conflict: Beyond Greed & Grievance*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Bellows, John & Edward Miguel (2006). "War and Institutions: New Evidence from Sierra Leone", *American Review*, 96(2): 394-399.
- Berdal, Mats (2005). "Beyond greed and grievance and not too soon...", *Review of International Studies*, 31: 687-698.
- Berdal, Mats & David M. Malone (2000). *Greed and Grievance: Economic Agendas in Civil Wars*, Boulder,CO: Lynne Rienners Publishers.
- Binford, Leigh (2004). "Peasants, Catechists, Revolutionaries: Organic Intellectuals in the Salvadoran Revolution", pp. 105-125 in Aldo Lauria-Santiago & Leigh Binford (eds.), *Landscapes of Struggle: Politics, Society, and Community in El Salvador*, Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Blattman, Christopher & Edward Miguel (2010). "Civil war", Journal of Economic Literature, 48(1): 3-57.
- Bracha, Anat & Donald J. Brown (2007): "Affective Decision Making: A Behavioral Theory of Choice", Working paper. Available at: <u>www.princeton.edu/economics/seminar-schedule-by-</u> <u>prog/behavioral-s09/pdf/Anat-Bracha.pdf</u> [Accessed August 13, 2011].
- Bray, John, Leiv Lunde & Mansoob Murshed (2003). "Nepal: Economic Drivers of the Maoist
 Insurgency", pp. 107-132 in Karen Ballentine & Jake Sherman (eds.), *The Political Economy of Armed Conflict: Beyond Greed and Grievance*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.

- Brockett, Charles D. (1994). "Review: El Salvador: The Long Journey from Violence to Reconciliation", *Latin American Research Review*, 29(3): 174-187.
- Bundervoet, Tom, Philip Verwimp & Richard Akresh (2009). "Health and Civil War in Rural Burundi", Journal of Human Resources, 44(2): 536-563.
- Bøås, Morten (2005). "The Liberian Civil War: New War/Old War", Global Society, 19(1): 73-88.
- Bøås, Morten & Kevin C. Dunn (2007). *African Guerillas: Raging Against the Machine*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Bøås, Morten & Anne Hatløy (2008). "'Getting in, getting out': militia membership and prospects for reintegration in post-war Liberia", *Journal of Modern African Studies*, 46(1): 33–55.
- Call, Charles (2010). "Liberia's War Recurrence: Grievance over Greed", Civil Wars, 12(4): 347-369.
- Cater, Charles (2003). "The Political Economy of Conflict and UN Intervention: Rethinking the Critical Cases of Africa", pp. 19-45 in Karen Ballentine & Jake Sherman (eds.), *The Political Economy of Armed Conflict: Beyond Greed & Grievance*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Cerra, Valerie & Sweta C. Saxena (2008). "Growth Dynamics: The Myth of Economic Recovery", *American Economic Review*, 98(1): 439-457.
- Chambers, R. and G. R. Conway (1992). *Sustainable rural livelihoods: Practical concepts for the 21st century*. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies.
- CIA [Central Intelligence Agency] (2011). "Liberia", *The World Factbook*. Available at: www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/li.html.
- Collier, Paul (2000). "Doing Well out of War", pp. 91-111 in David Malone & Mats Berdal (eds.), *Greed and Grievance: Economic Agendas in Civil Wars*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Collier, Paul (2006). "Economic Causes of Civil Conflict and their Implications for Policy". Unpublished. Available at: <u>http://users.ox.ac.uk/~econpco/research/pdfs/EconomicCausesofCivilConflict-</u> <u>ImplicationsforPolicy.pdf</u> (15.08.2011)
- Collier, Paul, Lani Elliott, Håvard Hegre, Anke Hoeffler, Marta Reynal-Querol & Nicholas Sambanis (2003). *Breaking the Conflict Trap: Civil War and Development Policy*, Washington: The World Bank and Oxford University Press.
- Collier, Paul & Anke Hoefler (1998). "On economic causes of civil war", *Oxford Economic Papers*, 50: 563-573.
- Collier, Paul & Anke Hoeffler (2004). "Greed and grievance in civil war", *Oxford Economic Papers*, 56: 563-595.

- Collier, Paul, Anke Hoeffler & Dominic Rohner (2006). "Beyond Greed and Grievance: Feasibility and Civil War", Working paper. Available at: <u>http://www.csae.ox.ac.uk/workingpapers/pdfs/2006-10text.pdf</u>.
- Collier, Paul. Anke Hoeffler & Måns Söderbom (2004). "On the Duration of Civil War", *Journal of Peace Research*, 41(3): 253-273.
- David, Matthew & Carole D. Sutton (2004). Social Research, London: SAGE Publications.
- Duffield, Mark (2001). *Global Governance and the New Wars: The Merging of Development and Security*, London: Zed Books.
- Dutta, Sujit (1982). "El Salvador: Towards Another Vietnam", Social Scientist, 10(2): 4-17.
- Eisenhardt, Kathleen (1995). "Building Theories From Case Study Research", pp. 65-90 in George P. Huber & Andrew H. Vad de Ven (eds.), *Longitudinal Field Research Methods*, London: SAGE Publications.
- Ellis, Stephen (1995). "Liberia 1989-1994: A Study of Ethnic and Spiritual Violence", *African Affairs*, 94: 165-197.
- Ellis, Stephen (2007). *The Mask of Anarchy: The Destruction of Liberia and the Religious Dimension of an African Civil War*, 2nd edition, New York: New York University Press.
- Faust, Drew G. (1990). *Creation of Confederate Nationalism: Ideology and Identity in the Civil War South,* Louisiana State University Press.
- Fearon, James D. (2004). 'Why Do Some Civil Wars Last So Much Longer than Others?', *Journal of Peace Research*, 41(3): 275-301.
- Fearon, James D. & David D. Laitin (2008). "Integrating Qualitative and Quantitative Methods", pp. 756-777 in Janet M. Box-Steffensmeier, Henry E. Brady & David Collier (eds.), *The Oxford handbook of political methodology*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Figes, O. (1996). A People's Tragedy: The Russian Revolution 1891-1924, London: Pimlico.
- Geddes, Barbare (1990). "How the Cases You Choose Affect the Answers You Get: Selection Bias in Comparative Politics", *Political Analysis*, 2(1): 131-150.
- Gerring, John (2007). *Case Study Research: Principles and Practices*, New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gleditsch, Nils Petter, Håvard Hegre & Håvard Strand (2009). "Democracy and Civil War", pp. 155-192 in Manus I. Midlarsky (ed.), *Handbook of War Studies III: The Intrastate Dimension*, Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

Glenn, David (2004). "On Death and Voting", The Chronicle of Higher Education.

- Goodhand, Jonathan (2003). "Enduring disorder and persistent poverty: a review of the linkage between war and chronic poverty", *World Development*, 31(3): 629-646.
- Goodwin, Jeff, James M. Jasper & Francesca Polletta (2001). *Passionate Politics: Emotions and Social Movements*, Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Grimble, Robin, Catarina Cardoso & Salma Omar-Chowdhury (2002). Poor People and the Environment: Issues and Linkages, Greenwich: Natural Resources Institute. Available at: www.nri.org/publications/policyseries/PolicySeriesNo16.pdf [Accessed August 13, 2011].
- Guáqueta, Alexandra (2003). "The Colombian Conflict: Political and Economic Dimensions", pp. 73-106 in Karen Ballentine & Jake Sherman (eds.), *The Political Economy of Armed Conflict: Beyond Greed & Grievance*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Press.
- Hegre, Håvard, Gudrun Østby & Clionadh Raleigh (2009). "Poverty and Civil War Events: A Disaggregated Study of Liberia", *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 53: 598-623.
- Hirshleifer, Jack (1995). "Theorizing about conflict", pp. 165-189 in Keith Hartley & Todd Sandler (eds.), *Handbook of Defense Economics (Volume 1)*, North-Holland Publishing Co.
- Hume, Mo (2008). "El Salvador: The Limits of a Violent Peace", pp. 318-333 in Michael Pugh, Neil Cooper & Mandy Turner (eds.), Whose Peace? Critical Perspectives on the Political Economy of Peace Building, NY: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Humphreys, Macartan (2005). "Natural Resources, Conflict, and Conflict Resolution: Uncovering the Mechanisms", *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 49(4): 508-537.
- Jasper, James M. (1998). "The Emotions of Protest: Affective and Reactive Emotions in and around Social Movements", *Sociological Forum*, 13: 397-424.
- Johnson, Ken (1997). "Review: The Protection Racket State: Elite Politics, Military Extortion and Civil War in El Salvador", *The American Political Science Review*, 91(3): 785-786.
- Johnston, Patrick (2008). "The Geography of Insurgent Organization and its Consequences for Civil Wars: Evidence from Liberia and Sierra Leone", *Security Studies*, 17(1): 107-137.
- Kaldor, Mary (2007). New and Old Wars: Organized Violence in a Global Era, Oxford: Polity Press.
- Kaufman, Bruce E. (1999). "Emotional arousal as a source of bounded rationality", *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 38: 135-144.

- Keen, David (2000). "War, Crime, and Access to Resources", pp. 283-304 in E. W. Nafziger, F. Stewart and R. Vayrynen, *War, hunger, and displacement: The Origins of Humanitarian Emergencies (Volume 1)*, Duffield: Oxford University Press.
- Keen, David (2010). Complex Emergencies, Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Kemper, Theodore (1978). A Social Interactional Theory of Emotions, New York: Wiley.
- Kilcullen, David (2009). *The Accidental Guerrilla: Fighting Small Wars in the Midst of a Big One*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Kincaid, A. Douglas (1987). "Peasants into Rebels: Community and Class in Rural El Salvador", Comparative Studies in Society and History, 29(3): 466-494.
- Koenigs, M. & D. Tranel (2007). "Irrational Economic Decision-Making after Ventromedial Prefrontal Damage: Evidence from the Ultimatum Game", The Journal of Neuroscience, 27(4): 951-956.
- Korf, Benedikt (2005). "Rethinking the Greed-Grievance Nexus: Property Rights and the Political Economy of War in Sri Lanka", Journal of Peace Research, 42(2): 201-217.
- Kraft, Markus Schultze (2006): "Book Reviews", Journal of Peasant Studies, 33(1): 140-160.
- Laband, John (2007). *Daily Lives of Civilians in Wartime Africa: From Slavery Days to Rwandan Genocide*, UK: Greenwood.
- Le Billon, Philippe (2001). "Angola's political economy of war: The role of oil and diamonds, 1975-2000", *African Affairs*, 100: 55-80.
- Lindberg, Jo-Eystein (2008). *Running on Faith? A Quantitative Analysis of the Effect of Religious Cleavages on the Intensity and Duration of Internal Conflicts,* The Peace Research Institute Oslo (PRIO). Available at: <u>www.prio.no/sptrans/602513917/Running on Faith.pdf</u> (13.08.2011).
- Lund, Michael (2005). "Greed and Grievance Diverted: How Macedonia Avoided Civil War", pp. 231-258 in Paul Collier & Nicholas Sambanis (eds.), *Understanding Civil War: Evidence and Analysis* (*Volume 2: Europe, Central Asia, and Other Regions*), Washington: The World Bank.
- Mason, T. David (1999). "The Civil War in El Salvador: A Retrospective Analysis", *Latin American Research Review*, 34(3): 179-196.
- McCoy, David (2008). "Rectifying Horizontal Inequalities: Lessons from African Conflict", *African Journal on Conflict Resolution*, 8(1): 105-134.
- Miguel, Edward, Shanker Satyanath & Ernest Sergenti (2004). "Economic Shocks and civil conflict: An instrumental variables Approach", *Journal of Political Economy*, 112(4): 725-753.

- Montgomery, Tommie Sue (1995). *Revolution in El Salvador: From Civil Strife to Civil Peace (2nd Edition)*, Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Moran, Mary H. (2006). *Liberia: The Violence of Democracy*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Murshed, S. Mansoob & Mohammed Zulfan Tadjoeddin (2007). "Reappraising the Greed and Grievance Explanations for Violent Internal Conflict", MICROCON Research Working Paper.
- Murshed, S. Mansoob & Mohammed Zulfan Tadjoeddin (2009). "Revisiting the Greed and Grievance Explanations for Violent Internal Conflict", *Journal of International Development*, 21: 87-111.
- Nafziger, E. Wayne, Frances Stewart & Raimo Väyrynen (2000). *War, Hungar, And Displacement: The Origins of Humanitarian Emergencies (Volume 2: Case Studies)*, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nafziger, E. Wayne & Juha Auvinen (2000). "Economic Causes of Humanitarian Emergencies", pp. 91-145 in E. Wayne Nafziger, Frances Stewart & Raimo Väyrynen (eds.), War, Hunger, And Displacement: The Origins of Humanitarian Emergencies (Volume 1: Analysis), New York: Oxford University Press.
- Nichols, John Spicer (1996). "Review: Revolution in El Salvador: From Civil Strife to Civil Peace (2nd Edition)", *Journal of Interamerican Studies and World Affairs*, 38(4): 201-204.
- Nikiforakis, N. & H.T. Normann (2008). "A comparative statics analysis of punishment in public-good experiments", Experimental Economics, 11(4): 358–369.
- Paige, Jeffery (1993). "Coffe and Power in El Salvador", Latin American Research Review, 28(3): 7-40.
- Pastor, Manuel & James K. Boyce (2000). "El Salvador: Economic Disparities, External Intervention, and Civil Conflict", pp. 365-400 in E. Wayne Nafziger, Frances Stewart & Raimo Väyrynen (eds.), War, Hungar, And Displacement: The Origins of Humanitarian Emergencies (Volume 2: Case Studies), New York: Oxford University Press.
- Peterson, Anna L. (1997). *Martyrdom and the Politics of Religion: Progressive Catholicism in El Salvador's Civil War*, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Prosterman, Roy L., Jeffrey M. Riedinger & Mary N. Temple (1981). "Land Reform and the El Salvador Crisis", *International Security*, 6(1): 53-74.
- Pugel, James (2007). "What the Fighters Say: A Survey of Ex-combatants in Liberia. February-March 2006", United Nations Development Program. Available at: www.lr.undp.org/UNDPwhatFightersSayLiberia-2006.pdf.

- Pugh, Michael Charles, Neil Cooper & Jonathan Goodhand (2004). *War economies in a regional context: challenges of transformation*, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Regan, Patrick M. & Daniel Norton (2005). "Greed, Grievance, and Mobilization in Civil War", *The Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 49(3): 319-336.
- Reno, William. 1999. Warlord politics and African states, Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Rodrik, Dani (1999). "Where Did All the Growth Go? External Shocks, Social Conflict, and Growth Collapses", *Journal of Economic Growth*, 4(4): 385-412.
- Ross, Michael (2006). "A Closer Look at Oil, Diamonds, and Civil War", *Annual Review of Political Science*, 9: 265-300.
- Ruddin, Lee Peter (2006). "You Can Generalize Stupid! Social Scientists, Bent Flyvbjerg, and Case Study Methodology", *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(4): 797-812.
- Sambanis, Nicholas (2004). "Using Case Studies to Expand Economic Models of Civil War", *Perspectives* on *Politics*, 2: 259-279.
- Sambanis, Nicholas (2007). "Short-Term and Long-Term Effects of United Nations Peace Operations", World Bank Policy Research Paper 4207.
- Sanín, Francisco Gutiérrez (2003). "Criminal Rebels? A Discussion of War and Criminality from the Colombian Experience", Crisis States Programme Working Paper 27, London School of Economics.
- Sanín, Francisco Gutiérrez (2008). "Telling the Difference: Guerrillas and Paramilitaries in the Colombian War", *Politics & Society*, 36(1): 3-34.
- Shemyakina, Olga (2006). "The Effect of Armed Conflict on Accumulation of Schooling: Results from Tajikistan", Households in Conflict Network Working Paper 12.
- Shiv, Baba & Alexander Fedorikhin (1999). "Heart and Mind in Conflict: The Interplay of Affect and Cognition in Consumer Decision Making", *Journal of Consumer Research*, 26: 278-292.
- Simon, Herbert A. (1993). "Decision Making: Rational, Nonrational, and Irrational", *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 29(3): 392-411.
- Stanley, William (1996). *The Protection Racket State: Elite Politics, Military Extortion and Civil War in El Salvador*, Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- Stewart, Frances (1993). "War and Underdevelopment: Can Economic Analysis Help Reduce the Costs?", *Journal of International Development*, 5(4): 357-180.

- Stewart, Frances (2000). "The root causes of humanitarian emergencies", pp. 1-41 in E. W. Nafziger, F.
 Stewart and R. Vayrynen, *War, hunger, and displacement: The Origins of Humanitarian Emergencies*, (Volume 1), Duffield: Oxford University Press.
- Stewart, Frances (2003). "Horizontal Inequalities: A Neglected Dimension of Development". Working Paper. CRISE (Department of International Development, University of Oxford).
- Theidon, Kimberly (2009). "Reconstructing Masculinities: The Disarmament, Demobilization, and Reintegration of Former Combatants in Colombia", *Human Rights Quarterly*, 31: 1-34.
- Trejo, Guillermo (2009). "Religious Competition and Ethnic Mobilization in Latin America: Why the Catholic Church Promotes Indigenous Movements in Mexico", *American Political Science Review*, 103(3): 323-342.
- UNHCR [United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees] (2008). *Refworld: The Leader in Refugee Decision Support*. Available at: <u>www.unhcr.org/cgi-bin/texis/vtx/refworld/rwmain</u> [Accessed August 13, 2011].
- Vilas, Carlos M. (1995). Between Earthquakes and Volcanoes: Market, State, and the Revolutions in Central America, New York: Monthly Review Press.
- Vinci, Anthony (2006). "Greed-Grievance Reconsidered: The Role of Power and Survival in the Motivation of Armed Groups", *Civil Wars*, 8(1): 25-45.
- Weber, Max (1922). *Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology*, Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- Wood, Elisabeth Jean (2001). "The Emotional Benefits of Insurgency in El Salvador", pp. 267-302 in Jeff
 Goodwin, James M. Jasper and Francesca Polletta, *Passionate Politics: Emotions and Social Movements*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Wood, Elisabeth Jean (2003). *Insurgent Collective Action and Civil War in El Salvador*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Østby, Gudrun (2006). "Horizontal Inequalities, Political Environment and Civil Conflict: Evidence From 55 Developing Countries", Working Paper 28, CRISE.